

Original Research Article

The Impact of ESG Performance on Business Performance before and after the COVID-19—Taking the Chinese Listed Companies as a Sample

Abstract

Formatted: Font: Bold

Under the influence of the COVID-19 in 2020, almost all industries have been hit unprecedentedly. The overall economy is on a downward trend, making economic development a high degree of uncertainty. Therefore, this paper takes the Chinese A-share listed companies that have been evaluated based on the [Environmental, Social and Governance \(ESG\)](#) performance in the three years from 2019 to 2021 as samples and analyzes the impact of ESG performance on business performance before and after the COVID-19 through the empirical method of the OLS and quantile regression. The findings of this study are summarized as follows: ~~The findings of the study are as follows:~~ 1) The performance of ESG during the ~~epidemic pandemic~~ played a significant role in resisting ~~the its~~ impact ~~of the epidemic~~ on revenue and [earnings per share \(EPS\)](#). 2) The performance of ESG during the ~~pandemic epidemic~~ has a negative and significant relationship with changes in the company's free cash flow. However, if the ESG performance is maintained above the level of the previous period and the social responsibility report is actively disclosed by the GRI reporting guidelines, it will have a positive and significant impact on the changes in the company's free cash flow. 3) The performance of ESG during the ~~pandemic epidemic~~ has no obvious effect on the company's performance recovery after the ~~pandemic epidemic~~, including the increase in revenue and EPS, and the increase in free cash flow. Based on the research findings, this paper also suggests that companies should continuously and progressively implement [corporate social responsibility \(CSR\)](#) and that the state should further improve the requirements for CSR.

Comment [41]: You define the terms first when these appear!!

Formatted: Font: Not Bold

Key-words: [ESG](#), [COVID-19](#), [Business performance](#), [CSR](#).

Formatted: Font: Bold

1 Introduction

Formatted: Font: Bold

The COVID-19 ~~outbreak pandemic~~ broke out in Wuhan during the Spring Festival and spread rapidly to all parts of the country ([Health Hive, 2020](#)). The impact was extensive. Almost all industries were a hitherto unknown impact, and the overall economy was on the decline, which caused the economic development to show high uncertainty. During the ~~pandemic epidemic~~, many enterprises suffered huge losses, yet they are still willing to contribute to society. The efforts of these enterprises ~~are~~ deeply impressed the general public and lots of people have a rapid increase in their favor of the brands of these companies. After the ~~pandemic epidemic~~ eased, the state also commended companies

Comment [42]: Check ref! Added to your list

that should undertake ~~corporate social responsibility (CSR)~~ as possible they can. Now the ~~pandemic~~ has been well controlled, the overall economic level has gradually returned to the situation before the ~~pandemic~~, and all walks of life have resumed usual business. However, some enterprises cannot resist the strong impact during the ~~pandemic~~, and the recovery progress is slow or cannot survive this difficulty. This situation makes people think that the implementation cost of CSR should not occur in usual operation, so the implementation of CSR should erode corporate profits. In the early stage, some scholars abroad did get such results (Brammer et. al. 2006). In recent years, the Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) concept has been highly valued all over the world and has gradually become an important investment measurement standard. It has an increasing impact on companies' long-term strategic development, financing, and business environment. It is a necessary condition for the stable and sustainable development of an enterprise and an important standard to measure whether the company has a sufficient sense of social responsibility and sustainable development ability. Many countries have issued ESG investment policies and regulations, many practical ESG accounting standards have been formed internationally, and many economies are trying or have launched green asset classification standards. The mainstream of ESG marks the new understanding and judgment of the society on enterprise value creation. In 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak worldwide caused many production activities to be reduced or even blocked. The COVID-19 did create a short-term dramatic effect but did not change the direction of the long-term process. Although the occurrence of COVID-19 is a major crisis, it has achieved good results in China. In this period of improvement, it is also ~~an important~~ ~~very~~ opportunity to verify the impact of CSR on business performance. Although ESG can enhance the financial value of enterprises and produce spillover effects on stakeholders through ESG, there are some pain points and difficulties in ESG information disclosure and evaluation system from the perspective of global ESG development. After consulting the relevant literature, many scholars have studied this related topic in recent years. We found first there is no major crisis during the research period, so it is difficult to analyze whether the implementation of ESG plays an obvious role in the usual operating environment. Next, there ~~is~~ ~~are~~ few research in the secondary ~~little~~ literature on this related topic in China, and it is mostly presented in the form of a summary. This paper will empirically analyze and explore the relationship between the corporate social responsibility performance of domestic listed companies and the recovery of business performance after the epidemic. It is expected that the research findings of this paper will provide

Comment [43]: Add examples and reference!!!

Comment [44]: Provide examples!!!

enterprises with a deeper understanding of the core concept and substantive role of social responsibility, and further to provide reference guidelines for enterprises to formulate social responsibility strategies, or it can provide a quantitative and reliable reference basis for national economic policies.

2 Literature Review

Ching's (2017) research shows that CSR can increase financial results; and promote the development of enterprises. Because ESG investment can provide more transparent company performance data than traditional financial data, it has more accuracy for the company's financial disclosure, is more likely to be sought after by a new generation of investors and enterprise holders, improves the company's governance ability and sustainable development ability, and is more conducive to restoring the enterprise's business ability after the epidemic. Zhao (2018) showed that good ESG performance can promote the development of Chinese enterprises through research on China's energy industry. Friede et al. (2015) found a positive and significant relationship between ESG and financial performance. Over time, the positive impact of ESG on financial performance is mostly stable. Moreover, in the empirical research on the company, a large part of them believe that ESG has a positive correlation with financial performance. Therefore, in the capital market, when ESG does better, the company's financial performance will be better, and the relationship will maintain a stable positive correlation model over time. De Lucia et al. (2020) believe that there is a positive correlation between ESG and financial indicators, and ESG plan can improve the financial performance of European enterprises. Therefore, the better the ESG of an enterprise, the better the return on net assets (ROE) and return on assets (ROA). According to the research data of Zhang & Gao et al. (2021), on the premise of considering a certain time lag, it can be seen that there is a reverse interactive causal relationship between the ESG performance and financial performance of enterprises. The ESG performance of enterprises is generally based on the enterprise's economy, but the performance of enterprises with strong profitability is not good in ESG. On the contrary, the relationship between ESG and the financial performance of enterprises with poor profitability does not show a positive interactive causality, which is large because ESG investment is still in the primary stage in China and there is still a lot of room for improvement.

According to the research of Zhang et al. (2020), there is a positive correlation between the fixed asset ratio and current liability ratio of paper enterprises and ESG, while there is a negative correlation

Comment [45]: State how this study is divided...

Comment [46]: You should address including definition and functionality: ESG first and then CSR so that the research background is clear and streamlined!!!

So, you need theoretical foundation followed by your empirical review...

between solvency and operating capacity and ESG. And for the paper industry, systemic risk has no significant impact on ESG performance. It can be seen that a reasonable capital structure helps to improve the ESG index, but when the solvency and operating capacity develop well, it will cause enterprises to ignore sustainable development, which will have a negative impact on the ESG index. Therefore, when an enterprise's ESG is better, it will have a positive correlation with the enterprise's asset structure. ~~Moreover, in the research of~~ Sun Dong et al. (2019) ~~found that,~~ the solvency, profitability and reasonable capital structure of power enterprises have a significant positive impact on the company's ESG development, and good operating capacity will make the company ignore the importance of sustainable development, resulting in a negative impact on ESG performance. From the perspective of financial indicators, when the ESG of an enterprise develops steadily, the solvency, profitability and capital structure of the enterprise will develop according to the positive correlation. Zhang et al. (2019) showed that environmental performance has a positive relationship with corporate financial performance. Generally speaking, there are several aspects to improve enterprise environmental performance. One is to pass the environmental management system certification, which has a positive impact on enterprise environmental performance. The second is government regulation, which can positively regulate the environmental performance of enterprises by balancing the protection between government regulation and enterprise environment. Third, industry competition and public opinion supervision. In industry competition, too fierce competition will lead to enterprises' inaction in environmental protection, while public opinion supervision is to maintain independence and authenticity, which has a positive regulatory effect on enterprise environmental performance. Among them, improving the environmental performance of enterprises will have a positive effect on the financial performance of enterprises. Therefore, the better the environmental performance of enterprises, the greater the positive impact on the financial performance of enterprises. ~~In the research of~~ Zhu et al. (2020), ~~it is~~ believed that the good environmental performance of enterprises can significantly improve the financial performance of enterprises, and can significantly promote the financial performance of the current period, the first lag period and the second lag period. Among them, rewarding government intervention enhances the role of environmental performance on enterprise financial performance, while punitive government intervention weakens the role of environmental performance on enterprise financial performance. Therefore, enterprises should take the initiative to undertake environmental responsibility, improve environmental performance and better promote the

Comment [47]: Not reported???? Ref. [9]

financial performance of enterprises. Achim (2014) found that environmental investment increased the financial burden of the company and reduced the financial performance through the performance study of Listed Companies in Romania. It is not conducive to the improvement of the company's financial performance. Yuniawati (2020) believes that environmental performance has no significant impact on the company's financial performance measured by return on assets. The research conducted in Indonesia shows that appropriate environmental rating will not have a good or bad impact on the company's finance. To further reflect the impact of environmental performance, it is necessary to formulate accurate environmental disclosure standards, improve public awareness and improve the evaluation standards of environmental performance. Therefore, the more capital market participants do not pay attention to the behavior of environmental performance ranking, the less significant the impact of environmental performance on financial performance. Jiao et al. (2021) showed that ~~corporate social responsibility~~ CSR has a nonlinear impact on improving the efficiency of working capital management. Working capital is an indispensable part of enterprise production and operation, and the management efficiency of this part is a part of the embodiment of enterprise financial performance. The cognition of stakeholders plays a regulatory role in the performance of CSR and the efficiency of working capital management, which can strengthen the improvement of working capital management efficiency by the performance of CSR. Therefore, the working capital management efficiency can be maximized only by the harmonious operation of the three.

Zheng et al. (2020) believe that the performance of CSR in the current period has no significant relationship with financial performance, but has a positive deferred effect on the later period. And from the research on the interaction between current CSR and disclosure willingness and economic cycle, it can be seen that in the economic contraction period, the voluntary disclosure of CSR report in the current period will significantly improve the current financial performance. Therefore, as a whole, enterprises should actively perform social responsibility and take social responsibility as a long-term investment. Although the return of social responsibility in the current period is small, from the perspective of time effect, the performance of social responsibility will improve the financial performance of enterprises to a certain extent. The research of Rodriguez-Fernandez (2016) shows that there is a virtuous circle between the implementation of corporate social responsibility and the

Formatted: Font color: Red

Comment [48]: Why this section is shaded?????
Remove Shading!!!

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

profitability of corporate operations, that is to say, all social responsibility policies increase financial resources and improve corporate financial performance, thereby bringing greater social benefits. Moreover, ~~In the research of~~ Zhu Yongming et al. (2021); ~~it can be seen~~ found that there is a low degree of significant positive correlation between CSR and corporate performance, and it can be seen that among enterprises, the correlation between shareholders' responsibility and corporate economic performance is the highest, and the supplier's responsibility and corporate performance show a low degree of positive correlation. On the other hand, Tian GuoShuang and Sha Sha (2019) studied the relationship between ownership structure, incentive mechanism and internal control in corporate governance and their role in financial performance. The results showed that the role of ownership structure and internal control was to improve the financial performance of enterprises, and there was an intermediary effect in the impact of incentive mechanism on financial performance. There is a positive correlation between incentive mechanism and internal control, and incentive mechanism plays different roles in different equity. When equity is more concentrated, equity incentive and salary incentive can improve financial performance. When equity is more dispersed, equity incentive can improve financial performance better than salary incentive. Therefore, in corporate governance, we should pay attention to the setting of equity structure, And set up corresponding incentive methods to play the role of internal control, so as to promote the improvement of financial performance. It can be seen that the better the corporate governance of the enterprise, the better the financial performance of the enterprise.

3 Methodology

Based on the literature review, we summarized the hypothesis that ESG has a positive effect on financial performance. Therefore, this paper will explore whether ESG performance can reduce losses during the epidemic in 2020 and whether it can contribute to the better recovery of business performance after the epidemic. Considering that the COVID-19 has gradually recovered in the second half of 2020, this paper takes Chinese A-share listed companies with ESG rating by Sino-Securities

Formatted: Font: Bold

index from 2019 to the third quarter of 2021 as a sample for empirical analysis. The sample data are taken from WIND and CSMAR databases. After downloading the data, [the researchers](#) deleted the incomplete samples first, and then deleted the extreme values. There are 3740 samples from 2019 to 2020 and from the third quarter of 2020 to the third quarter of 2021.

At present, there are many domestic ESG rating agencies for listed companies, such as the Sino-Securities index, FTSE Russell, CAVSI, and RKS. This paper adopts the rating results of the Sino-Securities index information service Co., Ltd., which was established in September 2017. It is an independent third-party professional service organization for various asset management institutions, mainly providing comprehensive services of index and index investment. Moreover, the company has obtained the market authorization of the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, focusing on the research and development of index and index investment, and provides whole industry chain services including research and consultation, product design, marketing promotion, valuation, and data information. Its rating method has the characteristics of being close to the Chinese market, wide coverage, and high timeliness; it is conducive to a more complete sampling in this paper.

In terms of research design, this paper [is quantitative](#). It uses the least square method to set the change range of financial performance in every two years as the explanatory variable, whether the ESG and ESG performance in the previous year regress, and whether the social responsibility report is disclosed according to the GRI reporting guidelines as the explanatory variable. [The functions](#) to explore [include](#), 1) whether the performance of ESG can reduce the loss when the [epidemic-pandemic](#) occurs, [a](#)And 2) whether the company can recover its original business performance more quickly after the epidemic recovery.

Research Models

The research models are as follows:

The changes from 2019 to 2020 (whether the performance of ESG can reduce the loss when the [epidemic-pandemic](#) occurs):

$$\Delta SALES_{it} = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 ESG20_{it} + \alpha_2 NOREG_{it} + \alpha_3 GRI_{it} + \alpha_4 IND_{it} + \alpha_5 DEBT_{it} + \alpha_6 SCALE_{it} + \alpha_7 AGE_{it} + \alpha_8 STATE_{it} + \varepsilon_{it} \dots \dots \dots (1)$$

$$\Delta EPS_{it} = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 ESG20_{it} + \alpha_2 NOREG_{it} + \alpha_3 GRI_{it} + \alpha_4 IND_{it} + \alpha_5 DEBT_{it} + \alpha_6 SCALE_{it} + \alpha_7 AGE_{it} + \alpha_8 STATE_{it} + \varepsilon_{it} \dots \dots \dots (2)$$

Comment [49]: Add reference!!!

Formatted: Font: Bold

$$\Delta FCF_{it} = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 ESG20_{it} + \alpha_2 NOREG_{it} + \alpha_3 GRI_{it} + \alpha_4 IND_{it} + \alpha_5 DEBT_{it} + \alpha_6 SCALE_{it} + \alpha_7 AGE_{it} + \alpha_8 STATE_{it} + \varepsilon_{it} \dots \dots \dots (3)$$

The changes from the 3rd quarter of 2020 to the 3rd quarter of 2021 (can the company recover its original business performance more quickly after the epidemic recovery):

$$\Delta SALES_{it} = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 ESG21_{it} + \alpha_2 NOREG_{it} + \alpha_3 GRI_{it} + \alpha_4 IND_{it} + \alpha_5 DEBT_{it} + \alpha_6 SCALE_{it} + \alpha_7 AGE_{it} + \alpha_8 STATE_{it} + \varepsilon_{it} \dots \dots \dots (4)$$

$$\Delta EPS_{it} = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 ESG21_{it} + \alpha_2 NOREG_{it} + \alpha_3 GRI_{it} + \alpha_4 IND_{it} + \alpha_5 DEBT_{it} + \alpha_6 SCALE_{it} + \alpha_7 AGE_{it} + \alpha_8 STATE_{it} + \varepsilon_{it} \dots \dots \dots (5)$$

$$\Delta FCF_{it} = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 ESG21_{it} + \alpha_2 NOREG_{it} + \alpha_3 GRI_{it} + \alpha_4 IND_{it} + \alpha_5 DEBT_{it} + \alpha_6 SCALE_{it} + \alpha_7 AGE_{it} + \alpha_8 STATE_{it} + \varepsilon_{it} \dots \dots \dots (6)$$

Where.

2.1 Variable description:

~~2.1.1~~ Explanatory variables: This paper takes the increase or decrease of sales revenue, earnings per share, and cash flow as the alternative variables of financial performance. Moreover, this paper uses ESG, whether ESG performance has not regressed, and whether social responsibility reports are disclosed following GRI reporting guidelines as explanatory variables.

GRI referring to the research of Chen et al. (2019), it is found that the active disclosure of social responsibility reports contributes to the implementation effect of ESG and then improves financial performance. Therefore, whether the social responsibility report is disclosed following GRI reporting guidelines is set as one of the variables, which is a virtual variable. If the sample companies disclose the implementation of ESG following GRI reporting guidelines, it is set as "1", otherwise it is set as "0".

~~2.1.1.1~~ $\Delta SALES$: The changes in sales revenue from 2019 to 2020 and from the third quarter of 2020 to the third quarter of 2021.

~~2.1.1.2~~ ΔEPS : The changes in earnings per share from 2019 to 2020 and changes in earnings per share from the third quarter of 2020 to the third quarter of 2021.

~~2.1.1.3~~ ΔFCF : The changes in free cash flow from 2019 to 2020 and from the third quarter of 2020 to the third quarter of 2021.

~~2.1.2 Explanatory variables: This paper uses ESG, whether ESG performance has not regressed, and whether social responsibility reports are disclosed following GRI reporting guidelines as explanatory variables.~~

2.1.2.1-ESG: Converts the ESG rating into the corresponding score. The rating of Sino-Securities index is divided into nine levels, from low to high: C, CC, CCC, B, BB, BBB, a, AA and AAA. This paper converts them into scores of 1-9, respectively and indicates the year in the variable code.

2.1.2.2-NOREG: ~~Based on the fact~~Knowing that ESG is a behavior with long-term impact and the correlation between the current period and the previous ESG performance can be ~~seen-illustrated~~ from this variable, whether the ESG rating remains at the level of the previous period is set as one of the variables in the research design. If there is no retrogression from the previous period, it is set as "1", and if not, it is set as "0"

~~2.1.2.3 GRI referring to the research of Chen et al. (2019), it is found that the active disclosure of social responsibility reports contributes to the implementation effect of ESG and then improves financial performance. Therefore, whether the social responsibility report is disclosed following GRI reporting guidelines is set as one of the variables, which is a virtual variable. If the sample companies disclose the implementation of ESG following GRI reporting guidelines, it is set as "1", otherwise it is set as "0".~~

~~2.1.3-Control variables: This paper selects company size, debt ratio, company age, property right nature, and industry as control variables.~~

2.1.3.1-The Liability to assets ratio (DEBT): Referring to Margaritis and Psillaki (2007), this study measures the ratio of total liability to total assets as a controlled variable.

2.1.3.2-Company scale (SCALE): Learning from the research of Qin and Zhang (2018), ~~it~~ is considered that the size of the company has a significant impact on the financial structure. Therefore, this paper uses the company size as one of the control variables. This paper takes the total assets of the sample company as the alternative variable of the company size. To narrow the absolute value gap between this variable and other variables, but do not affect the relative relationship, its natural logarithm is taken.

2.1.3.3-Company age (AGE): According to the research of Huang and Hou (2018), ~~it is considered that~~ the age of the company has a significant impact on the financial structure. Therefore, the company

age is used as one of the control variables in this paper, and the calculation basis is the number of years from the year of establishment to December 31, 2020, and September 30, 2021, respectively.

2.1.3.4 Nature of property rights (STATE): State-owned enterprises are one of the characteristics of Chinese governance, ~~regarding the research of~~ Liao (2021); ~~It shows~~ that the nature of property rights has a significant impact on the improvement of financial performance by shareholder relationship networks and sustainable competitive advantage. Therefore, this paper selects the nature of property rights as one of the control variables, which is a virtual variable. If it is a state-owned enterprise, set it to '1', otherwise set it to '0'.

2.1.3.5 Industry (IND): According to the eighth announcement of the General Tax Bureau of the Ministry of Finance of February 7, 2020, Announcement No. 8: The four ~~difficult~~ industries that suffered harshly from COVID-19 the most, including transportation, catering, accommodation, and tourism. Therefore, considering the large range of these four types of changes; therefore, take these four related industries as control variables; and expressed in the form of virtual variables; If it belongs to these four categories of industries, it is set as "1"; Otherwise set to "0".

Data Analysis

Hejase et al. (2012) contend that informed objective decisions are based on facts and numbers, real, realistic and timely information. Furthermore, according to Hejase and Hejase (2013), "descriptive statistics deals with describing a collection of data by condensing the amounts of data into simple representative numerical quantities or plots that can provide a better understanding of the collected data" (p. 272). Therefore, Tables 1 and 2 are generated.

4 Results and Discussion

Table 1: The descriptive statistics of variables_the year 2019 and 2020 (N = 3740)

	<u>Min.</u>	<u>Max.</u>	<u>Ave.</u>	<u>Stdv.</u>
ΔSALES	-0.732	1.592	0.051	0.336
ΔEPS	-31.500	7.000	-0.744	4.653
ΔCF	-12.710	95.803	3.003	12.691
ESG20	3.000	9.000	6.362	1.324
NOREG	0.000	1.000	0.857	0.350

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0"

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", First line: 0.29"

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0"

Comment [410]: This section during the discussion of results must be validated with reported literature.....

Formatted: Font: Bold

GRI	0.000	1.000	0.091	0.288
IND	0.000	1.000	0.081	0.273
DEBT	0.067	0.982	0.447	0.215
SCALE	10.602	18.359	13.250	1.472
AGE	9.438	35.751	21.278	5.568
STATE	0.000	1.000	0.443	0.497

Note: refer to 3 Methodology for the description of variable code.

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

The first three variables in Table 1 represent the changes in sales revenue, earnings per share, and free cash flow of all samples during the [epidemic-pandemic](#) in 2020. From the mean and standard deviation, most of the sample companies have been seriously impacted by [the epidemic COVID-19](#) and tend to reduce their income, decline their surplus and tighten their working capital. The average value of ESG20 is 6.362, and the data distribution is relatively scattered. Based on the ESG variable and NOREG variable, it can be seen that compared with the previous ESG performance in this period, most sample companies can maintain the level of the previous period, and a small number of sample companies are affected by the epidemic and regress compared with the previous period. According to the GRI index, most sample companies can not disclose social responsibility reports in accordance with GRI reporting guidelines. On the whole, the sample companies were seriously impacted by the [epidemic-pandemic](#) during the sample period.

Table 2: The descriptive statistics of variables _the third quarter of 2020 and 2021 (N = 3740)

	Min.	Max.	Ave.	Stdv.
ΔSALES	-0.608	3.025	0.291	0.482
ΔEPS	-16.708	23.857	0.577	3.938
ΔFCF	-38.476	63.339	0.113	9.725
ESG21	3.000	9.000	6.426	1.321
NOREG	0.000	1.000	0.879	0.326
GRI	0.000	1.000	0.091	0.288
IND	0.000	1.000	0.081	0.273
DEBT	0.067	1.043	0.453	0.217
SCALE	10.621	18.431	13.331	1.481
AGE	10.438	36.751	22.278	5.568

Note: refer to 3 Methodology for the description of variable code.

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

The first three variables in Table 2 represent the changes in sales revenue, earnings per share, and cash flow of all samples during the epidemic period in 2021. From the mean and standard deviation; The vast majority of sample companies have been seriously impacted by the [epidemic-pandemic](#) and tend to reduce their income, decline their surplus and tighten their working capital, but they have rebounded compared with 2020. The average value of ESG21 is 6.426, and the dispersion of data distribution is the same as that of the previous year. Based on the ESG variable and NOREG variable, it can be seen that compared with the previous ESG performance in this period, most sample companies can maintain the level of the previous period, and a small number of sample companies are affected by the epidemic, which is backward compared with the previous period; In terms of overall data, there is little difference from the previous year. According to the GRI index, most sample companies still fail to disclose social responsibility reports in accordance with the GRI reporting guidelines, but the situation is better than that of the previous year. Meanwhile, the maximum sales revenue during the [epidemic-pandemic](#) period in 2021 decreased compared with the previous year. It shows that the sample company is still in the impact of [the epidemic COVID-19](#) during the sample period, but the situation has warmed up.

Next, before the empirical analysis, we should first evaluate the rationality of the research model. This paper uses the linear regression model. The first thing to pay attention to is whether the selection of variables is homogeneous. Observe that the collinearity index VIF values in [Tables 3 to 8](#) are between 1.027 and 1.839. [This implies that there was no serious multicollinearity problem among independent variables as all the VIF values of explanatory variables in all models were less than 2 \(Chehimi, Hejase & Hejase, 2019, p. 1910\).not more than 10.](#) Therefore, there is no obvious homogeneity of the regression model. Next, we will examine whether the linear model design is predictive, from the F values in Table 3 to [Table 8](#); [it is between 3.471 and 23.356](#), which is also significant, indicating that the design of linear regression model in this paper is still reasonable.

Table 3: [The empirical results of model \(1\) the year 2019 and 2020 \(N = 3740\)](#)

	Coefficient	t	Significance	VIF
(constant)	-0.069	-1.152	0.249	
ESG20	0.035	6.575	0.000***	1.656
NOREG	0.013	0.770	0.441	1.252
GRI	-0.006	-0.282	0.778	1.275

Formatted: Font: Bold

IND	0.003	0.158	0.875	1.029
DEBT	0.007	0.221	0.825	1.382
SCALE	0.003	0.521	0.602	1.839
AGE	-0.007	-6.440	0.000***	1.081
STATE	-0.024	-2.052	0.040**	1.165
F value	14.637	Significance	***	

Note 1: refer to 3 Methodology for the description of variable code.

Note 2: when $p < 0.01$, the significance is ***, when $0.01 < p < 0.05$, the significance is **, and when $0.05 < p < 0.1$, the significance is *.

From Table 3, the results show that the performance of ESG during the outbreak of COVID-19the epidemic in 2020 has a positive and significant relationship with the change of sales revenue, that is, the better the performance of ESG in 2020, the higher the proportion of the increase in sales revenue or the smaller the proportion of the loss. As for whether the performance of ESG remains above last year's level and whether enterprises disclose social responsibility reports in accordance with GRI reporting guidelines, there is no statistically significant relationship with the change range of sales revenue in 2020. Analysis of the reasons, the companies disclose ESG social responsibility report is used to convey information to stakeholders or to enhance the impression of stakeholders, but COVID-19 has a very strong impact on the world when enterprises help the community. The public will feel stronger than usual, so it is widely praised, and at the same time, it also improves the goodwill of consumers. At this time, whether enterprises still have written report disclosure is not as important as before for consumers.

Table 4: The empirical results of model (2) _the year 2019 and 2020 (N= 3740)

	Coefficient	t	Significance	VIF
(constant)	-4.687	-5.736	0.000***	
ESG20	0.386	5.344	0.000***	1.656
NOREG	-0.067	-0.283	0.777	1.252
GRI	-0.087	-0.297	0.766	1.275
IND	0.108	0.391	0.696	1.029
DEBT	-3.910	-9.607	0.000***	1.382
SCALE	0.278	4.067	0.000***	1.839
AGE	-0.023	-1.692	0.091*	1.081
STATE	0.224	1.385	0.166	1.165

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Line spacing: single

Formatted: Font: Bold

F value	23.356	Significance	***
---------	--------	--------------	-----

Note 1: refer to 3 Methodology for the description of variable code.

Note 2: when $p \leq 0.01$, the significance is ***, when $0.01 < p \leq 0.05$, the significance is **, and when $0.05 < p \leq 0.1$, the significance is *.

The empirical results in Table 4 are similar to those in Table 3. The change of earnings per share in 2020 has a positive and [statistically](#) significant relationship with the performance of ESG in that year. The reason may also be due to the contribution of sales revenue, but the impact of [the epidemic COVID-19](#) in 2020 is comprehensive and strong, so the profit in the income statement does not represent the inflow of cash.

Table 5: [The](#) empirical results of model (3) _the year 2019 and 2020 (N = 3740)

	Coefficient	t	Significance	VIF
(constant)	3.792	1.667	0.096*	
ESG20	-0.563	-2.797	0.005***	1.656
NOREG	1.646	2.487	0.013**	1.252
GRI	1.756	2.166	0.030**	1.275
IND	-0.430	-0.560	0.576	1.029
DEBT	-2.330	-2.057	0.040**	1.382
SCALE	0.368	1.929	0.054*	1.839
AGE	-0.116	-2.995	0.003***	1.081
STATE	-0.265	-0.590	0.555	1.165

F value	3.746	Significance	***
---------	-------	--------------	-----

Note 1: refer to 3 Methodology for the description of variable code.

Note 2: when $p \leq 0.01$, the significance is ***, when $0.01 < p \leq 0.05$, the significance is **, and when $0.05 < p \leq 0.1$, the significance is *.

Table 5 shows that the better ESG performances in the current year, the more adverse it will have on the change of free cash flow. However, the unrelenting performance of ESG and the active disclosure of social responsibility reports following GRI reporting guidelines have a positive and [statistically](#) significant effect on the change of free cash flow in the current year. That is, the implementation of ESG invests a considerable degree of capital cost, so it has a negative and significant impact on the change of free cash flow; However, if we can continuously invest in ESG to make stakeholders keep a good impression on the enterprise, and actively and immediately disclose the implementation results of the enterprise ESG to stakeholders, all external stakeholders will give priority to such enterprise returns in times of crisis, such as the support of operating income, the

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Line spacing: single

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Line spacing: single

preferential treatment given by suppliers, and the grace conditions offered by the bank and the subsidies by the government.

Table 6: Empirical results of model (4) _the third quarter of 2020 and the third quarter of 2021 (N = 3740)

	Coefficient	t	Significance	VIF
(constant)	0.615	7.020	0.000***	
ESG20	0.004	0.476	0.634	1.533
NOREG	0.019	0.732	0.464	1.124
GRI	0.019	0.624	0.533	1.289
IND	-0.038	-1.297	0.195	1.027
DEBT	0.021	0.486	0.627	1.355
SCALE	-0.020	-2.836	0.005***	1.808
AGE	-0.005	-3.647	0.000***	1.079
STATE	0.041	2.390	0.017**	1.161
F value	3.471	Significance	***	

Formatted: Font: Bold

Note 1: refer to 3 Methodology for the description of variable code.

Note 2: when $p < 0.01$, the significance is ***, when $0.01 < p < 0.05$, the significance is **, and when $0.05 < p < 0.1$, the significance is *.

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Table 7: Empirical results of model (5) _the third quarter of 2020 and the third quarter of 2021 (N = 3740)

	Coefficient	t	Significance	VIF
(constant)	-1.808	-2.532	0.011**	
ESG20	-0.091	-1.518	0.129	1.533
NOREG	0.262	1.259	0.208	1.124
GRI	-0.393	-1.559	0.119	1.289
IND	-0.422	-1.772	0.076*	1.027
DEBT	-1.850	-5.373	0.000***	1.355
SCALE	0.279	4.794	0.000***	1.808
AGE	-0.010	-0.848	0.397	1.079
STATE	0.357	2.566	0.010***	1.161
F value	6.123	Significance	***	

Formatted: Font: Bold

Note 1: refer to 3 Methodology for the description of variable code.

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Line spacing: single

Note 2: when $p < 0.01$, the significance is ***, when $0.01 < p < 0.05$, the significance is **, and when $0.05 < p < 0.1$, the significance is *.

Table 8: Empirical results of model (6) _The third quarter of 2020 and the third quarter of 2021 (N = 3740)

	Coefficient	t	Significance	VIF
(constant)	-1.157	-0.655	0.513	
ESG20	-0.149	-1.004	0.315	1.533
NOREG	-0.787	-1.527	0.127	1.124
GRI	-0.390	-0.625	0.532	1.289
IND	-0.018	-0.030	0.976	1.027
DEBT	-4.196	-4.922	0.000	1.355
SCALE	0.370	2.572	0.010	1.808
AGE	-0.006	-0.216	0.829	1.079
STATE	0.148	0.429	0.668	1.161
F value	3.591	Significance	***	

Formatted: Font: Bold

Note 1: refer to 3 Methodology for the description of variable code.

Note 2: when $p < 0.01$, the significance is ***, when $0.01 < p < 0.05$, the significance is **, and when $0.05 < p < 0.1$, the significance is *.

Formatted: Font: 10 pt

Formatted: Line spacing: single

Tables 6 to 8 discuss the changes of enterprises recovering from the [epidemic-pandemic](#) from the third quarter of 2020 to the third quarter of 2021. However, it can be seen from the empirical results that the implementation results of ESG in 2020 do not significantly help the performance recovery after the epidemic. The reason should be that in the second half of 2020, the [pandemic-epidemic](#) had been gradually controlled, and all social and economic activities have been on the right track. At this time, the intensity of CSR activities will gradually reduce, and the feeling of the public is not so obvious. Enterprises also focus on the main business activities of the company, so the ESG performance in 2020, has little effect on the performance recovery in 2021.

5 Conclusions and Recommendations

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Font: Bold

This paper selects domestic A-share listed companies that have been ESG rated by the Sino-Securities Index from 2019 to the third quarter of 2021 as a sample and uses the OLS method for empirical analysis. Based on the results, the research findings are summarized as follows:

(1) The performance of ESG during the ~~pandemic~~epidemic has a significant effect on resisting the impact of the epidemic on sales revenue and earnings per share.

(2) During ~~the epidemic~~COVID-19 period, the performance of ESG showed a negative significant relationship with the change of free cash flow of the company. However, if ESG's performance remains above the level of the previous period and takes the initiative to disclose social responsibility reports in accordance with GRI reporting guidelines, it will have a positive and significant impact on the change of enterprise free cash flow.

(3) The performance of ESG during the ~~pandemic~~epidemic period has no significant effect on the performance recovery of the company after the epidemic, including the improvement of sales revenue and earnings per share, and the increase of free cash flow.

Based on the above research findings, this paper puts forward the following corresponding suggestions:

For enterprises, CSR is not deeply felt by the public under usual circumstances, but at the critical moment, in addition to giving help to those in need, it is equivalent to a long-term investment in corporate advertising. The number of enterprises across the country is so large that the public can't always remember any action of each enterprise so clearly. Moreover, if there is a negative impression, it will bring a very deep memory to the public. Although there is no specific mandatory implementation standard for CSR, as long as enterprises try their best to implement it when they have spare power, the focus is to make continuous and slow progress. The scope of ~~E, S and~~ESG covers a wide range; enterprises should establish a systematic implementation strategy for the implementation of ESG. On the basis of the original institutional framework, enterprises can introduce ESG matters into the company's management system by combing and comparing the ESG evaluation system or ESG information disclosure requirements item by item. Although the amount of disclosure is gradually increasing, there is still a large gap between quantitative disclosure and qualitative disclosure. We should ensure the authenticity and measurability of the data and ensure the implementation of the ESG concept in the company's daily operation. On the basis of establishing and improving the ESG compliance obligation management system, the enterprise strengthens the management system of ESG bonus matters according to the characteristics and actual situation of its own industry and business. In this way, we can see the results in the long term, which will benefit both enterprises and stakeholders.

Comment [411]: Keep consistency in using ESG

For the state and ESG rating agencies, listed companies are a very important part of the national economic system. Enterprises bear social responsibility and can help the state share part of the support to the society when the country is in crisis. Therefore, there should be a more rigorous management system for the social responsibility requirements of listed companies. Driven by multiple factors of policy, supervision, and listed companies, the domestic ESG asset management market is in the early stage of low-scale and high growth. ESG is a development concept pursuing the maximization of comprehensive economic, environmental and social value, It can effectively guide important participants in the market to create economic value, pay attention to social and environmental issues such as scientific and technological innovation, carbon neutralization, rural revitalization, and common prosperity, promote internal metabolism of enterprises, and then promote sustainable economic and social development. According to the requirements of ESG rules, enterprises first need to formulate and improve the strategy, internal management system, and system of ESG. In addition to building the enterprise ESG strategy and management system, listed companies also need to issue ESG reports and fulfill the obligation of ESG information disclosure. In order to ensure that ESG reports are effectively concerned, listed companies should disclose with reference to internationally-recognized reporting frameworks, such as GRI's sustainable development reporting standards, and should take into account the relevant requirements of the exchange. [The epidemic COVID-19](#) has brought troubles to global economic development. Enterprises expect to achieve sustainable growth of performance through ESG, improve brand strength and maintain the continuous leadership of the global market. Increasing ESG investment and doing a good job in sustainable product innovation and upgrading are effective ways to improve sustainable income.

Comment [412]: Ref?

COMPETING INTERESTS DISCLAIMER:

Formatted: Font: Bold, Not Highlight

Authors have declared that no competing interests exist. The products used for this research are commonly and predominantly use products in our area of research and country. There is absolutely no conflict of interest between the authors and producers of the products because we do not intend to use these products as an avenue for any litigation but for the advancement of knowledge. Also, the research was not funded by the producing company rather it was funded by personal efforts of the authors.

Formatted: Not Highlight

Reference

Read carefully the rule for the Journal:

References must be listed at the end of the manuscript and numbered in the order that they appear in the text. Every reference referred in the text must also present in the reference list and vice versa. In the text, citations should be indicated by the reference number in brackets [3].

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

Therefore, carefully rewrite the references write up and then reorder as these appear in the text

See corrected examples....

Formatted: Font: Bold, Font color: Accent 6

[1] Health Hive. Pandemic vs Epidemic: What's the Difference? Rochester Regional Health. 2020. March 27. Accessed 8 February 2022. Available: <https://hive.rochesterregional.org/2020/03/pandemic-vs-epidemic>

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left: 0", Hanging: 0.39", Line spacing: single

[2] Brammer S, Brooks C, Pavelin S. (2006). Corporate social performance and stock returns: UK evidence from disaggregate measures. Financial Management;2006:35(3):97 - 116.

[3] Ching HY, Gerab F, Toste TH. The quality of sustainability reports and corporate financial performance: Evidence from Brazilian listed companies. SAGE Open;2017:7(2):Article 712027.

[4] Zhao C, Guo Y, Yuan J, Wu M, Li D, Zhou Y, Kang J. ESG and corporate financial performance: Empirical evidence from China ' s listed power generation companies. Sustainability;2018:10(8):Article 2607.

Formatted: English (United States)

[5] Friede G, Busch T, Bassen A. ESG and financial performance: aggregated evidence from more than 2000 empirical studies. Journal of Sustainable Finance & Investment;2015:5(4):210-233.

[6] De Lucia C, Pazienza P, Bartlett M. Does good ESG lead to better financial performances by firms? Machine learning and logistic regression models of public enterprises in Europe. Sustainability;2020:12(13): 5317.

Formatted: English (United States)

[7] Zhang X, Gao Y. Is ESG Performance of Listed Companies Related to Financial Performance? Journal of Fujian Business University;2021:4:54-61..

[8] Zhang Y, Ou X, Li K, Song S. (2020). An Empirical Study on the Impact of Enterprise Financial Performance and Systematic Risk on ESG Performance ——Taking Listed Companies in the A-share Paper Industry as an Example. Tropical Agricultural Engineering;2020:44(05),119-124.

Formatted: French (France)

Formatted: French (France)

[9] Sun Dong et al.....?????

Formatted: French (France)

[10] Zhang Z, Zhang C, Cao D. Is Environmental Management System Certification of the Enterprise Effective. Nankai Business Review;2019: 22(04):123-134.

Formatted: English (United States)

[11] Zhu Q, Zou T, Cui X, Li X. Research on the Impact of Corporate Environmental Performance on Financial Performance — Based on the Regulatory Effect Analysis of Different Types of Government Intervention. Economy and Management;2020:34(04):72-81.

[12] Achim MV, Borlea NS. Environmental performances-way to boost up financial performances of companies. Environmental Engineering and Management Journal;2014:13(4):991–1005.

[13]

[1] Achim, M. V. and Borlea, N. S. (2014). Environmental performances-way to boost up financial performances of companies. *Environmental Engineering and Management Journal*, 13(4), 991–1005.

Formatted: Font color: Red

[2] Brammer, S., Brooks, C. and Pavelin, S. (2006). Corporate social performance and stock returns: UK evidence from disaggregate measures. *Financial Management*; 35(3); 97–116.

Formatted: Font color: Red

[3] Chen, C., Wang, Z. and Ye, Y. (2019). The Effect of Corporate Social Responsibility Disclosure on Financial Performance from the Perspective of Signaling Theory. *Chinese Journal of Management*, 16(03), 408-417.

[4] Ching, H. Y., Gerab, F. and Toste, T. H. (2017). The quality of sustainability reports and corporate financial performance: Evidence from Brazilian listed companies. *SAGE Open*, 7(2), Article 712027.

Formatted: Font color: Red

[5] De Lucia, C., Pazienza, P. and Bartlett, M. (2020). Does good ESG lead to better financial performances by firms? Machine learning and logistic regression models of public enterprises in Europe. *Sustainability*, 12(13), 5317.

Formatted: Font color: Red

[6] Friede, G., Busch, T. and Bassen, A. (2015). ESG and financial performance: aggregated evidence from more than 2000 empirical studies. *Journal of Sustainable Finance & Investment*, 5(4), 210-233.

Formatted: Font color: Red

[7] Huang, B. and Hou, W. (2018). Corporate Governance, Performance Change and Corporate Social Responsibility. *Shandong Social Sciences*, 02, 129-134.

[8] Jiao, R., Wen, S. and Zhang, J. (2021). Research on the Impact of Corporate Social Responsibility on Working Capital Management Efficiency Based on WSR —The Moderating Role of Stakeholder Cognition. *Management Review*, 33(05), 217-235.

[9] Liao, C. (2021). Sustained competitive advantage, shareholder relationship network and corporate financial performance—Based on the perspective of different property rights. *Communication of Finance and Accounting*, 14, 54-58.

[10] Margaritis, D. and Psillaki, M. (2007). Capital structure and firm efficiency. *Journal of Business Finance & Accounting*, 34(9-10), 1447-1469.

[11] Qin, Y.-f. and Zhang, X. (2018). Advertisement Investment, Output, and Firm Performance: An Analysis of the Brand Effect of Well-known Trademarks. *Journal of Northwest Normal*

University(Social Sciences) Journal of Northwest Normal University(Social Sciences), 55(05), 133-139.

[12] Rodriguez-Fernandez, M. (2016). Social responsibility and financial performance: The role of good corporate governance. *BRQ Business Research Quarterly*, 19(2), 137-151.

[13] Tian, G.-s. and SHA, S. (2019) . Empirical Analysis on the Impact of Diversity of Corporate Governance Structure on Financial Performance. *Journal of Harbin University of Commerce(Social Science Edition)*, 04, 42-53.

[14] Yuniawati, R. A. (2020). REVISITING THE RELATION BETWEEN ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE. *Jurnal Ilmiah Akuntansi Fakultas Ekonomi*, 6(2), 139-148.

[15] [Zhang, X. and Gao, Y.\(2021\). Is ESG Performance of Listed Companies Related to Financial Performance? *Journal of Fujian Business University*, 4, 54-61..](#)

Formatted: Font color: Red

[16] [Zhang, Y., Qu, X., Li, K. and Song, S. \(2020\). An Empirical Study on the Impact of Enterprise Financial Performance and Systematic Risk on ESG Performance ——Taking Listed Companies in the A-share Paper Industry as an Example. *Tropical Agricultural Engineering*, 44\(05\), 119-124.](#)

Formatted: Font color: Red

[17] [Zhang, Z., Zhang, C. and Cao, D. \(2019\). Is Environmental Management System Certification of the Enterprise Effective. *Nankai Business Review*, 22\(04\), 123-134.](#)

Formatted: Font color: Red

[18] [Zhao, C., Guo, Y., Yuan, J., Wu, M., Li, D., Zhou, Y. and Kang, J. \(2018\). ESG and corporate financial performance: Empirical evidence from China's listed power generation companies. *Sustainability*, 10\(8\), Article 2607.](#)

Formatted: Font color: Red

[19] Zheng, P., Li, Y. and He, Y. (2020). Research on the Impact of Corporate Social Responsibility on Financial Performance—Based on Empirical Evidence of Chinese Listed Companies. *The Theory and Practice of Finance and Economics*, 41(06), 64-71.

[20] [Zhu, Q., Zou, T., Cui, X. and Li, X. \(2020\). Research on the Impact of Corporate Environmental Performance on Financial Performance—Based on the Regulatory Effect Analysis of Different Types of Government Intervention. *Economy and Management* , 34\(04\), 72-81.](#)

Formatted: Font color: Red

[21] Zhu Y. and Li, J. (2021). The impact of corporate social responsibility on corporate performance —Based on Meta analysis. *Finance and Accounting Monthly*, 11, 27-36.

[Hejase HJ, Hejase AJ, Hejase HANJ. *Quantitative Methods for Decision Makers: Management Approach*. Beirut, Dar Sader Publishers; 2012.](#)

[Hejase AJ, Hejase HJ. Research Methods: A Practical Approach for Business Students \(second edition\). Philadelphia, PA, USA: Masadir Incorporated; 2013.](#)

[Chehimi GM, Hejase AJ, Hejase NH \(2019\). An Assessment of Lebanese Companies' Motivators to Adopt CSR Strategies. Open Journal of Business and Management. 2019;7: 1891-1925. <https://doi.org/10.4236/ojbm.2019.74130>](#)

UNDER PEER REVIEW